# THE EFFECTIVENESS OF USING DIGITAL MARKETING COMPARED TO TRADITIONAL MARKETING A CASE STUDY OF BURBERRY - CHINA

Name

Class

Professor

University

City

Date

#### Abstract

The internet has greatly increased marketing opportunities, providing valuable access to a bigger consumer base than what was possible during the pre-internet era. However, marketers still communicate to consumers using different traditional marketing channels like TV, radio, magazines, newspapers, and face-to-face communication. To better understand these two seemingly contrasting points, this study examined the effectiveness of digital marketing compared to traditional marketing. Given the area to be investigated it was deemed appropriate that conducting a company case study would provide better insight in the effectiveness of both forms of marketing. Considering that one of the advantages of digital marketing is reaching a global audience, the company chosen for the study is a global luxury brand with international reach that has expanded over to the largest consumer market in the world; this company is Burberry and the locations chosen for the study are their branches in China (Beijing and Hong Kong). Particularly, the study examined whether digital marketing's impact is greater over traditional marketing taking into account the digital media that Burberry uses, and the influence of both types of media on Burberry's target market. The study sample consisted of 30 customers, and questionnaires were used to collect data. The data obtained were encoded in SPSS for analysis where descriptive statistics were generated. Generally, the results of the present study showed that while both digital marketing and traditional marketing influenced the customer's brand association; digital marketing was more effective compared to traditional marketing in all the areas examined. It can be concluded that digital marketing contributes greatly in increasing customers' awareness of the brand, interest in brand and purchase intention of the brand's products.

## Acknowledgement

I would like to thank my supervisor for giving me guidance in completing this study. I would also like to thank him for believing in me, providing the encouragement that I needed to finish this study in a timely manner. I would also like to express my appreciation for my family, who has been there from the start and giving all the support I needed throughout the completion of this dissertation. Special thanks to all the study respondents for taking part in this study and giving their honest opinions. I wish to also acknowledge my colleagues and my friends, without the support of whom I would not have been able to complete this study. Finally, to everyone who has indirectly contributed to the success of this dissertation, thank you.

## **Table of Contents**

Abstract	2
Acknowledgement	3
Chapter 1: Introduction	7
1.1 Enquiry Overview	8
1.1.1 Problem statement.	8
1.2 Aims and objectives of the study	9
1.2.1 Study Aim.	9
1.2.2 Study Objectives.	9
1.3 Research Questions.	9
1.4 Study Background.	10
1.4.1 The Concept of Luxury.	13
1.4.2 Case Study Company	13
1.5 Study Location.	14
1.6 Rationale of the Study	14
1.7 Dissertation Structure	15
Chapter 2: Literature Review	16
2.1 Concept Clarifications.	16
2.2 Trends of Digital Marketing in China.	16
2.3 Types of Media.	18
2.3.1 Traditional Media	18
2.3.2 Digital Media	19
2.4 Marketing	20
2.4.1 Marketing Mix Theory	20
2.4.1.1 Product	21
2.4.1.2 Promotion.	21
2.4.1.3 Place	21
2.4.1.4 Price	21
2.5 Traditional Marketing.	21

5

4.7 Discussion	68
4.8 Summary	72
Chapter 5: Conclusion	73
5.1 Conclusion	73
5.2 Recommendations	74
5.3 Limitations	75
5.4 Future Research	75
References	77
Appendix A: Introduction Letter/Consent Form	86
Appendix B: Questionnaire	88
Appendix C: List of Tables.	93
Appendix D: Lists of Figures	94
Appendix E: Descriptive Statistics	95

#### Chapter 1: Introduction

Technological advances have led to changes in marketing. Specifically, the internet has had a big impact in how businesses implement their marketing efforts today (Agarwal et al. 2011). Revolutionizing how consumers purchase services and products and how businesses are conducted (Bengtsson et al. 2007), digital marketing has significantly changed the traditional marketing landscape. The traditional model is more of a passive system that passes information to customers without being able to hear their response. While traditional marketing methods appear easier to implement, they do not provide businesses the value that digital marketing does. Take for instance, newsletters; they are easy to disseminate but not only does it not give customers adequate value (Chevalier and Gutsatz 2012) because they cannot inquire about the product with this form of one-way communication, it also does not allow the marketer to learn anything about the customers receiving the newsletter.

In this regard, a number of businesses have considered utilizing digital marketing to not only find innovative and new ways of marketing their services and products but also to find ways of connecting with consumers to learn about and influence their behaviour.

Despite this trend towards digital marketing and its apparent advantages, though, the question still remains – is digital marketing far more effective than traditional forms of marketing? We will attempt to answer this question through the study that follows.

The study was conducted in China and this included Mainland China (Beijing) as well as Hong Kong. The paper begins with an enquiry overview and provides the statement of the problem. A study background is also provided to give an overview of traditional marketing and digital marketing. The paper then offers an understanding of the effectiveness of marketing

through digital media through a comparison with traditional media in terms of how they influence consumers.

## 1.1 Enquiry Overview

The present study examined the effectiveness of digital marketing compared with traditional marketing in influencing the perceptions and purchase intention of customers. The comparison considered the following factors to gauge said effectiveness: ease of finding information about Burberry stores, perceived attractiveness and quality of Burberry products, perceived value for money/reasonability of pricing, satisfaction from using Burberry products, strength of Burberry's brand image, and customers' loyalty to the brand.

#### 1.1.1 Problem Statement

In the past decades, Dury (2008) indicated that marketers communicated to consumers using different traditional marketing channels like TV, magazines, newspapers, radio and face-to-face communication. However, these days, new channels of communication exist, such as the internet which has given marketers a number of opportunities. Current digital technologies using the internet, such as email and mobile apps, allow for affordable and active communication with customers. Moreover, they enable companies to gather valuable information about their customers. With this increased accessibility to information and a wider consumer base, the proliferation of the internet has opened numerous possibilities not only for the purchasing of goods but also for marketing different types of businesses (Okonkwo 2010). Although traditional marketing channels are still very much in use (Strauss and Frost 2011), the internet's continuous development via increased innovation (Eikelmann et al. 2007) has opened doors for new methods of marketing, impacting various industries including the luxury industry in China. This is evidenced by businesses in this industry using emails, websites, and social networks as

vehicles for their marketing initiatives. Given this, marketers now have two options: to stick with traditional methods which only allow a one-way communication with customers with no feedback; or utilize digital media and learn about the behaviour of their customers and learn how to focus timing and the content they advertise. Considering the above, digital marketing seems to be the obvious choice because of the numerous opportunities it provides. However, only a few studies have been conducted with regard to these two forms of marketing. Hence, we have limited information on the effectiveness of digital marketing over traditional marketing. The present study aims to answer that question of effectiveness making this initiative vital in the current business marketing landscape.

## 1.2 Aims and Objectives of the Study

#### 1.2.1 Study Aim

To compare the effectiveness of digital marketing and effectiveness of traditional marketing.

## 1.2.2 Study Objectives

- a. To examine whether digital marketing's impact is greater compared to traditional marketing.
- b. To examine the digital media that Burberry commonly uses.
- c. To determine the type of media that has the greater influence on the target audience.

#### 1.3 Research Questions

- a. Does digital marketing have greater impact compared to traditional marketing?
- b. What digital media does Burberry commonly use?
- c. Which media has the greatest influence on the target audience?

## 1.4 Study Background

According to Eisenhardt et al. (2007), the landscape of media has changed dramatically over the past few years with digital media platforms such as social media, online communication forums, online communities and blogs now supplementing traditional media like televisions, magazines and newspapers. This level of change is so great that digital media outlets are affecting the performance of marketing, including sales (Freberg et al. 2007). In this regard, understanding traditional and digital marketing effectiveness and interrelatedness is vital. The large population of internet users in China makes it essential to understand how digital media affects luxury consumer and how it is more effective compared to traditional media.

Internet users tend to be more involved in terms of interacting and finding new tools and people, and this is considered as a major feature of internet use (Gummesson 2006). Gillin (2009) attests that the internet has changed the behaviour of consumers and developers' interactivity; and consequently has led to the emergence of digitalism and new networks and services. These tremendous changes in turn, have altered businesses' marketing efforts to a great extent. Marketing firms are struggling to find ways of exploiting the communication between consumers and obtaining information. Thus, various studies have focused on what makes digital media services, networks and channels important to marketers; understanding consumer behaviour; and how to prioritize and use the new opportunities presented.

Gorry and Westbrook (2009) note that, the main goals of companies are to attain sustainable growth and make profit. Marketing can influence the growth of a business and become a powerful strategy. This means that determining an effective marketing strategy is crucial in attaining high market share, sales rate and desired brand image. Given that marketing is a process of delivering, exploring and creating value to meet wants and needs of target

consumers at a return; companies, consequently employ a number of marketing strategies when they promote, create and sell services and products that can meet the needs of their target consumers.

Alistair and Copulsky (2006) wrote that digital marketing is an important marketing approach that has gained attention these days. Martin (2009) indicates that although marketing has relatively remained the same over the past years, technological development has impacted markets, hence the marketing landscape has immensely transformed. Marketing today has taken a number of different forms, for instance, businesses can utilize electronic newsletters, banner advertising, or search engine optimization and advertising. These are digital marketing practices that are largely used and this implies that traditional marketing's influence has diminished lately. For instance, E-selling or internet selling has become more established with digital marketing and to some extent Microblogs and social networks (Twitter and Facebook) are replacing traditional channels. Since a considerable number of customers are internet users, digital media has become a very important marketing medium. Digital marketing takes advantage of the popularity of internet usage as it is nowadays the most popular way to connect with people and search for information or generate content to be viewed by others (Cutlip et al. 2006).

Companies are investing millions in digital media since they believe it provides the opportunity of enhancing the company-customer relationship because it allows two-way communication which positively affects brand equity (Harris & Whalen 2006). The reason why there has been an increased focus on digital media significance is that this positive effect on brand equity is magnified by the higher number of internet subscribers and users worldwide. Reports by Keller (2012) reveal that globally, the growth rate of internet use was 566.4% in the past decade and the internet users were over 2.4 billion in June 2012 and this number will double

in the coming years. Along with the popularization and development of mobile devices, marketers and brands seem to be inclined towards adopting digital marketing media to advertise and promote their services and products globally to expand their market share.

The luxury brand market has also gained from the internet by embracing digital marketing. However, there are concerns that the use of the internet cheapens brand image of luxury brands due to over exposure and lack of control of how the message of the content is received (Chaffey et al. 2006). Also, according to Epstein (2005), when a customer relationship has already been built, it is important to contact the customers on a regular basis. In most investigations, it is reported that the main reason for customers switching to competitors is insufficient contact with the customers. The company's objective therefore must entail enforcing not only ongoing business processes and but also communication with customers. One way to do this is to incorporate customer-oriented values into the company's marketing strategies. Being customer-oriented allows a marketer to be sensitive to the needs of customers; and if the marketer correctly acts on insights gained, the possibility of customers shifting to competitors may be mitigated. Noting Epstein and Buhovac's (2006) point, companies which do not accustom themselves to the rising needs of customers may lose their share of profits to competitors.

Kirkby and Marsden (2006) believe that digital media has taken a larger position in people's lives, and marketers' interest in online interactivity is growing. Information technology has empowered customers resulting in a market power shift from firms to customers. With these shift in the market, firm interaction and participation with their customers have become necessary in the creation of value creation. However to create exclusive value for consumers businesses should also understand their customers well and also understand the role of different

digital media channels (Brynjolfsson et al. 2006). Online business activities have been described as an eco-system, where all channels of digital media interrelate with one another. Every channel plays a unique role with specific advantages and disadvantages. Therefore, it is important for businesses to have knowledge on how different channels of digital media are optimally combined to maximize the positive results of their marketing activities.

#### 1.4.1 The Concept of Luxury

According to Chevalier and Gutsatz (2012), luxury brands are exclusive and selective brands. In contrast, Clode (2012) notes that such definition is restrictive and does not account for how luxury brands are identified today in terms of their placement and the perception of customers about them. According to Wertime (2008), luxury is more of a dream rather than a product. These days, the definition of luxury tends to be relative. That is, based on an individual's definition of indulgence and pleasure. There are arguments that the definition of luxury definition should focus on the consumer's perception of luxury. Another vital intangible concept associated with luxury is the brand's prestige. Prestige is the idea of having privilege and this idea goes beyond the actual product.

## 1.4.2 Case Study Company

Burberry understands that digital marketing orientation and participation of customers is vital to survival in the digital age (Chevalier and Mazzalovo 2012). Hence, Burberry has implemented digital marketing techniques and it has effectively helped them increase online sales allowing Burberry to become a market leader in the Chinese fashion industry. Burberry was an early adopter of social media and uses Twitter, Instagram, SinaWeibo and Facebook to connect to consumers and unveil and market products (Butler 2013). Moreover, Burberry has over 800,000 twitter followers, 11.6 million Facebook fans and their Youku and YouTube have

received over 12 million views making Burberry to be the only fashion brand with highest customer engagement (Burberry Group 2012). The investment of Burberry in digital technology drives customer engagement, improves operational effectiveness and improves their retail disciplines, further strengthening the brand image (Burkitt 2011). This is reflected in their 2012-2013 annual report which shows that Burberry realized a 12% increase in global wholesale/retail revenue; 14% of which is accounted for by sales in China. This shows that China was the fastest-growing target market (Daily 2013) and is very crucial in the global sales of Burberry (The Economist 2012).

#### 1.5 Study Location

The study focused on the major Burberry stores in mainland China and Hong Kong where there are hundreds of Burberry customers visiting the stores every single day. The number of customer visits per day made these locations the ideal places to conduct a survey - making it more likely that the researches successfully meet the targeted number of completed questionnaires given the short period of time available for the study. Specifically, these major locations were the Burberry outlet in new Sparkle Roll store in Beijing, and the Burberry outlet at the Pacific Place in Hong Kong.

## 1.6 Rationale of the study

The study examines the effectiveness of digital marketing over traditional marketing; hence, the issues covered can successfully help the case study company to prioritize their tools of marketing. The study also highlights the drawback and benefits of the marketing tools, thus the study can help in creating a better understanding about marketing media.

## 1.7 Dissertation Structure

The dissertation has five main chapters. Chapter one, the introduction, presents the background and introduces the research problem and objectives. Chapter two provides a literature review describing the theoretical background and models of digital marketing and traditional marketing, and also comparing past studies. Chapter three on outlines the methodology of the study. Chapter four presents the study's results based on the analysis stipulated in chapter three. Finally, chapter five provides the conclusion and implications of the study and also offers suggestions for future research.

#### Chapter 2: Literature review

This section presents concept clarifications, trends in digital marketing, basic marketing concepts and strategies, details on digital marketing and traditional marketing models, and also compares past studies on digital marketing and traditional marketing.

## 2.1 Concept Clarifications

Chiu et al. (2005) describes traditional marketing as any kind of advertising, campaign or promotion that involves traditional communication channels like magazines, newspapers, billboards, newsletters, flyers, commercials, television, radio, catalogues and face to face communications to convey a message to target customers. On the other hand, digital marketing refers to the use of digital technologies and the internet together in order to reach target consumers and attain marketing objectives in a manner that is cost effective, personal and timely. Similarly, Chiu et al. (2005) simply referred to digital marketing as marketing that uses digital technologies like tablets, computers and smartphones that can access the internet to engage consumers or business partners.

#### 2.2 Trends of Digital Marketing in China

China currently consists of a fifth of the entire world population. It is also recognized as the largest global consumer market with about 100 to 150 million well-off consumers. Given this enormous consumer base, China has been ranked number three among the largest world luxury markets (Clode 2012). In addition, China is not just the second-largest economy in the world today (Butler 2013) but it also has the largest number of internet users worldwide, and is projected to be one of the largest e-commerce countries by 2015. Accordingly, social media has been observed to play an important role in China as it helps consumers interact and make

decisions regarding purchases. Looking at statistics, China has more than 550 million people who use social media where over 80 percent of them have multiple accounts. According to Burkitt (2011), 95 percent of internet users who live in Tier 1, 2 and 3 cities use social media on a regular basis and social media is recognized as the major determinant of the entire Chinese lifestyle. Chinese consumers use the same strategy used by consumers in other countries to make decisions, and the fundamental rules for interacting with them efficiently are the same (Butler 2013). This therefore makes it easier to understand the importance of social media towards customer equity for all kinds of brands engaged in Chinese markets, including luxury brands. The use of social media exposes these online users to international luxury brands. And because material wealth is considered a sign of success (The Economist 2012) and gives one status, the demand for these global luxury items are higher in the Chinese consumer market.

Consequently, China is a market that is essential for global luxury brands, including Burberry (Burberry Group 2012). Having surpassed the luxury market in Japan, which was the largest in the world until recently, China is a major driver of luxury market growth, with consumption by Chinese in China and abroad attributable to over a quarter of the global purchase of luxury products.

Given the above, it is no surprise that Burberry has invested heavily in engaging consumers in China through digital marketing. Apart from launching an official website in Chinese language in 2013 where seasonal shows can be livestreamed like in western markets, Burberry's shop assistants have iPads to help Chinese customers order colours or sizes that may run out of stock (Daily 2013). In addition, Burberry actively participates in Chinese social media platforms such as SinaWeibo (which is the Chinese version of Facebook and twitter), Douban, and Youku (video streaming sites like YouTube) which have enabled Burberry to outperform

their rival luxury brands in China. For instance, Burberry's SinaWeibo alone has 500,000 followers (Burkitt 2011).

## 2.3 Types of Media

There are various theories that have been developed to understand communication media behaviour and attitudes (McNeal 2012). In this section, we specifically examine the two types of media that is of particular interest to this study: traditional media and digital media.

#### 2.3.1 Traditional Media

According to Glen (2006), traditional media is also known as 'old media' and is mainly described as the media introduced before development of the internet and uses different pre-internet technologies or platforms like newspapers, television, radio, magazines., books and other print media. Generally, the traditional media functions by communicating messages one way to a large number of audiences considered as homogeneous, hence, traditional media can also be regarded as the 'mass media', which is primarily intended for a mass audience.

To date, it is believed that traditional media continues to play a vital role in the distribution of information and connecting people. The ability of traditional media to target a wide audience with influential and strong messages greatly impacts the society. According to Jaeki and Zahedi (2006), radio and television have influenced the daily lives of people, including their routines. This implies that in practice, people adjusted their routines daily based on the programs and schedules of traditional media.

Smith and Chaffey (2005) mentioned that over the years, traditional media has played three leading roles and these include influencing, educating, and informing people. Furthermore, traditional media allows people to take part in events thus interacting with societies over dispersed geographic locations. Traditional media channels like newspapers, radio and television

bring the outside world into people's homes. For example, the recent World Cup was able to create strong conversations in a global scale due to traditional media. The traditional media programmes provide listeners and viewers with topics to converse about for days (Niederhoffer et al. 2007).

With advantages however, also comes drawbacks. One criticism against traditional media is its one-directional approach or one-to-many communication approach where one entity, such as a company, distributes a message to many people but allows no means for these people to communicate back. This issue is what brings us to Digital media which for the most part, is able to address this gap.

## 2.3.2 Digital media

Bengtsson et al. (2007) defines digital media as encompassing internet applications or tools that are used by people to share profiles, opinions, perspectives, content and insights and thus facilitating interaction and conversations online between online communities. According to Fang et al. (2007), digital media offers marketers a wide variety of tools and possible uses such as social media, search engines, online partnership, viral marketing, mobile marketing, online PR, marketing using opt-in-email, display advertising. Among these, social media is the most dominant. Its advantages include being able to reach a wide audience and it enables the building of a strong online presence.

Generally, social media has six types including online forums, media sharing, microblogging, social networks, bookmarking websites, and social news. However, certain social media can overlap with other social media types. For instance, social networks such as LinkedIn, Facebook and MySpace include media sharing features like video and picture sharing (Pires et

al. 2006). These digital media platforms enable individual expression and friendly conversation; and they enhance broad and diverse participation while increasing collaboration among users.

Agarwal et al. (2011) attests that digital media have caused a big shift in how people read, discover, and share information, news, and content. In addition, Evans (2009) explains, that digital media is a combination of technology and sociology, transforming the flow of information from one-to-many (monologue in traditional media) into many-to-many (dialogue). Hence digital media has contributed to transforming users into publishers from content readers hence democratizing information. This definition gives emphasis on the ability to create content and people's role in the creation.

## 2.4 Marketing

According to Trusov et al. (2010), Marketing refers to the process of executing or planning the pricing, distribution, conception or promotion of services, ideas or goods in order to create an exchange which can meet the objectives of organizations or individuals. Hence, marketing in firms is a collective process in which groups or individuals exchange services or goods depending on their wants and needs.

#### 2.4.1 Marketing Mix Theory

Marketers consider various marketing elements to effectively satisfy the wants and needs of their customers. The Marketing Mix Theory has been commonly used in understanding the effectiveness of marketing since they are tactical tools of marketing that are blended by firms to elicit a response from the target market (Kotler 2003). Further, it was stated by Picard (2010) that a marketing mix consists of all possible ways that a firm can influence demand for their products or services. Marketing mix basically represents a mixture of key marketing elements. These

marketing elements can be represented as '4P's' which stand for product, promotion, place and price.

#### 2.4.1.1 Product

Product refers to anything offered in a market such as ideas, services, and physical objects; for the purpose of acquisition, utilization, or consumption to satisfy a need or a want (Kotler 2003). The marketing tools considered for product include design, variety, and quality.

#### 2.4.1.2 Promotion

Promotion refers to the activities aimed at communicating the benefits of the product on sale in order to persuade the target market to purchase the product (Kotler 2003). The marketing tools considered for promotion include personal selling and advertising.

#### 2.4.1.3 Place

Place encompasses the activities of the company that make a product available to buyers (Kotler 2003). The marketing tools considered in place include channels and inventory.

#### 2.4.1.4 Price

Price refers to the sum of money charged for the services or products; or the amount of value that customers exchange for the advantages they gain from using or having the service or product (Kotler 2003). The marketing tools considered for prices include discount and price list.

#### 2.5 Traditional Marketing

According to Chevalier and Dina (2006), the concepts and principles associated with traditional marketing describe the consumer behaviour, product, nature and the competitive activity present in the market. Such concepts and principles are vital in developing products, planning brands and product lines, reacting to competitive responses and designing communication. To attain its objective, traditional marketing uses mass advertising approach

(Smith et al. 2006). The basis of such concept is founded on the supposition that when marketing messages are sent to a large audience the probability of converting some of them into consumers is very high.

However, Villanueva et al. (2008) noted that, a number of experts believe that marketing messages that target a huge audience leads to wastage of resources of advertisement through addressing both the targeted individuals as well as those the company does not intend to target. This idea has been supported by Chang and Chan-Olmsted (2005), who described wastage by media as noise. Additionally, this mass marketing advertising approach goes against the fundamental marketing concept which postulates that production and marketing of services and products must be done on the basis of expressed wants and needs of the consumers.

Dutta-Bergman (2004) says that in the traditional marketing setting most businesses have adopted a product-centred approach of marketing, a strategy that prioritizes selling of particular items or a group of items over all other objectives of marketing. Despite achieving the objectives of conventional media marketing, experts in the industry have made several criticisms concerning practices of this kind of media marketing (LaRose and Eastin 2004). These criticisms include what is referred to as the manipulative marketing approach. Yochai (2006) has described manipulative marketing practice as a form of delivering advertisements that are misleading through strenuous selling, with an objective of increasing demand so that the increased supply will have an equivalent demand.

On the other hand, it is reported that the techniques of traditional marketing have a great rate of success and have been proven while web-based techniques like social media are highly dependent on customers or clients accessing the online medium as well as having knowledge on using the internet. Moreover, Kozinets (2002) also wrote that traditional media appears to...

#### References

- Agarwal, A., Hosanagar, K. & Smith, M. (2011) Location, location, location: an analysis of profitability of position in online advertising markets. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 48(45), p.1057-1073.
- Alistair, D. & Copulsky, J. (2006) Managing webmavens: relationships with sophisticated customers via the Internet can transform marketing and speed innovation. *Strategy and Leadership*, 34(3), p.14-22.
- Belk, R.W. (2006) *Handbook of qualitative research methods in marketing*. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Bengtsson, M., Boter, H. & Vanyushyn, V. (2007) Integrating the Internet and Marketing Operations. *International Small Business Journal*, 25(1), p.27.
- Bergman, M.M. & Coxon, A.P.M. (2005) The Quality in Qualitative Methods. *Qualitative Social Research*, 6(2), p.34-45.
- Bogdan, R.C. & Biklen, S.K. (2006) Qualitative research in education: An introduction to theory and methods. NY: Allyn & Bac.
- Breazeale, M. (2009) Word of mouse An assessment of electronic word-of-mouth research. *International Journal of Market Research*, 51(3), p. 297-318.
- Bryman, A. & Bell E. (2011) *Business Research Methods, 3rd Edition*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Brynjolfsson, E.Y., Hu, Y. & Smith, M.D. (2006) From Niches to Riches: Anatomy of the Long Tail. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 7(9), p. 67-71.
- Buckling, R.E. & Sismeiro, C. (2009) Click Here for Internet Insight: Advances in Clickstream

  Data Analysis in Marketing. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 23(1), p. 35-48.

- Burberry Group (2012) *Annual report 2011-2012*. [Online]. Available at:

  http://www.burberryplc.com/investor\_relations/annual\_reports/financial\_review
  [Accessed: 12 August 2014]
- Burkitt, L. (2011) *Burberry stores in China get digital makeover*. [Online]. Available at: http://online.wsj.com/news/articles/SB10001424052748704547804576260320650086228 [Accessed: 12 August 2014]
- Butler, S. (2013) *The digital hard-sell behind Burberry's traditional image*. [Online]. Available at: http://www.theguardian.com/business/2013/jul/10/digital-burberry-image [Accessed: 12 August 2014]
- Campbell, C., Pitt, L.F., Parent, M. & Berthon, P.R. (2011) Understanding Consumer

  Conversations Around Ads in a Web 2.0 World. *Journal of Advertising*, 40(1), p. 87-102.
- Chaffey, D., Ellis-Chadwick, F., Johnston, K. & Mayer, R. (2006) *Internet Marketing: Strategy, Implementation and Practice. Third edition*. NY: Pearson Education Limited.
- Chang, B. & Chan-Olmsted, S. (2005) Relative constancy of advertising spending: a cross national examination of advertising expenditures and their determinants. *Gazette*, 16(7), p.339-357.
- Chevalier, J.A. & Dina, M. (2006) The Effect of Word of Mouth on Sales: Online Book Reviews. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 43(3), p.345-354.
- Chevalier, M. & Mazzalovo, G. (2012) Luxury brand management: A world of privilege.

  London: Wiley.
- Chevalier, M. & Gutsatz, M. (2012) Luxury retail management: How the world's top brands provide quality product & service support. London: Wiley.

- Chiu, Y.B., Lin, C.P. & Tang, L.L. (2005) Gender differs: assessing a model of online purchase intentions in e-tail service. *Journal of management*, 16(5), p.416-435.
- Clode, J. (2012) *Burberry builds success with Chinese luxury consumer*. [Online]. Available at: http://adage.com/article/global-news/burberry-builds-success-China-s-luxury-consumers/234679/ [Accessed: 12 August 2014]
- Cohen, L. & Manion, L. (2000) Research methods in education. London: Routledge.
- Cresswell, J.W. (2006) *Mixed method research*. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Cutlip, S., Center, A. & Broom, G. (2006) *Effective Public Relation (9th ed.)*. New Jersey: Pearson Prentice- Hall.
- Daily, J. (2013) What burberry is doing right in China. [Online]. Available at:

  http://www.jingdaily.com/what-burberry-is-doing-right-in-China/26923/ [Accessed: 12

  August 2014]
- Dury, G. (2008) Social media: should marketers engage and how can it be done effectively. *Journal of Direct, Data and Digital Marketing Practice*, 9(3), p.274-227.
- Dutta-Bergman, M. (2004) Complementarity in consumption of news types across traditional and new media. *Journal of Broadcasting and Electronic Media*, 48(1), p.41-61.
- Eccleston, D. & Griseri, L. (2008) How Does Web 2.0 Stretch Traditional Influencing Patterns? *International Journal of Market Research*, 50(5), p. 591–161.
- Eikelmann, S., Hajj, J. & Peterson, M. (2007) Web 2.0: profiting from the threat. *Journal of direct, Data and Digital Marketing Practice*, 9(3), p.293-295.
- Eisenhardt, K. M. & Graebner, M.E. (2007) Theory Building from Cas-es:Opportunities and .

  \*Academy of Management Journal, 50(1), p. 25-32.

- El-Gohary, H. (2010) E-Marketing A literature Review from a Small Businesses perspective. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 1(1), p. 214-244.
- Ellis, F. & Doherty, N.F. (2012) Web advertising: The role of e-mail marketing. *Journal of Business Research*, 65(6), p. 843-848.
- Epstein, M. J. & Buhovac, A.R. (2006) What's in IT for You (and Your Company)? *Journal of Accountancy*, 7(8), p. 69-75.
- Epstein, M.J. (2005) Implementing Successful E-Commerce Initiatives. *Strategic Finance*, 4, (6), p. 23-29.
- Eriksson, P. & Kovalainen, A. (2008) *Qualitative Methods in Business Research*. Los Angeles: SAGE.
- Evans, D.S. (2009) The online advertising industry: economics, evolution, and privacy. *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 23(3), p.37-60.
- Fang, H., Peter, P. & Mykytyn, J. (2007) Decision Factors for the Adoption of an Online

  Payment System by Customers. *International Journal of E-Business Research*, 3(4), pp. 1-32.
- Finnemann, N.O. (2011) Mediatization theory and digital media. *The European Journal of Communication Research*, 36, p. 67-89.
- Flick, U. (2006) An Introduction to Qualitative Research(3rd Ed). Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Freberg, K., Graham, K., McGaughey, K. & Freberg, L. (2010) Who are the social media influencers? A study of public perceptions of personality. *Academy of Management Journal*, 60(34), pp 65-62

- Gillin, P. (2009) Secrets of social media marketing: how to use online conversations and customer communities to turbo-charge your business. Fresno, CA:Quill Driver Books.
- Glen, U. (2006) Giving Voice To The Customer. Optimize, 5(1), p.24-29,10.
- Gorry, G.A. & Westbrook, R.A. (2009) Winning the internet confidence game. *Corporate Reputation Review*, 12(3), p.195–203.
- Gummesson, E. (2006) Qualitative research in management: addressing complexity, Context and persona. *Management Decision*, 44(2), p.167-179.
- Hahn, C. (2008) Doing Qualitative Research Using Your Computer: A Practical Guide. London: SAGE.
- Hanna, R., Rohm, A. & Crittenden V.L. (2011) We're all connected: The power of the social media ecosystem. *Business Horizons*, 54(3), p. 265-273.
- Harris, T. & Whalen, P. (2006) *The Marketer's Guide to Public Relations in the 21st Century*.

  Ohio: Thomson Higher Education.
- Heinonen, K. (2011) Consumer activity in social media: Managerial approaches to consumers' social media behaviour. *Journal of Consumer Behaviour*, 10(6), p. 356–364.
- Hennig-Thurau, T., Gwinner, K.P., Walsh, G. and Gremler, D.D. (2004) Electronic word-of mouth via consumer-opinion platforms: what motivates consumers to articulate themselves on the Internet? *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 18(1), p. 38-52.
- Hung-Chang, C., Yi-Ching, H., Ya-Hui, K. & Lee, M. (2007, "The Determinants of E-mail Receivers' Disseminating Behaviors on the Internet", *Journal of Advertising Research*, 47(4), p. 524-534.
- Jaeki, S. & Zahedi, F.M. (2006) Internet market strategies: Antecedents and implications. *Information and Management*, 43(2), p.222-238.

- José-Cabezudo, R.S. & Camarero-Izquierdo, C. (2012) Determinants of pening forwarding email messages. *Journal of Advertising*, 41(2), pp.97-112.
- Kaplan, A.M. & Haenlein, M. (2010) Users of the world. unite! The challenges and opportunities of Social Media. *Business Horizons*, 53(1), p. 59-68.
- Keller, K. (2012) Strategic brand management: building, managing, and measuring brand equity. New York: Prentice Hall.
- Kietzmann, J.H., Hermkens, K., McCarthy, I.P. & Silvestre, B.S. (2011) Social media? Get serious! Understanding the functional building blocks of social media. *Business Horizons*, 54(3), p. 241–251.
- Kirkby, J. & Marsden, P. (2006) Viral Marketing. Connected Marketing. Oxford: Elsevier.
- Kotler, K. (2003) Marketing Management, Eleventh edition. New Jersey: Prentice Hall.
- Kozinets, R.V. (2002) The Field Behind the Screen: Using Netnography for Marketing Research in Online Communities. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 39(1), p. 61-72.
- Langer, R. & Beckman, S.C. (2005) Sensitive research topics: Netnography revisited. *An International Journal*, 8(2), p.189-203.
- LaRose, R. & Eastin, M. (2004) A social cognitive theory of Internet uses and gratifications: toward a new model of media attendance. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 48(3), p.358-377.
- Lesidrenska, S. & Dicke, P. (2012) Social-media platforms and its effect on digital marketing activities. *Marketing journal*, 3(1), p. 44-52.
- Lin, C. (2001) Audience attributes, media supplementation and likely online service adoption.

  \*Mass Communication and Society, 4(1), p.19-38.

- Liu-Thompkins, Y. (2012) Seeding Viral Content: The Role of Message & Network Factors. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 52(4), p. 465-478.
- Martin, T. (2009) Social media is meant for conversation, not marketing. *Advertising Age*, 80 (6), p.11.
- Matthews, B. and Ross, L. (2010) *Research Methods: A Practical Guide for the Social Sciences*.

  Bristol: Longman.
- McNeal, M. (2012) The secret to viral success. A Magazine of Management & Applications, 24 (4), p. 11-15.
- Nguyen, A., Ferrier, L., Western, M. & McKay, S. (2005) Online news in Australia: patterns of uses and gratifications. *Australian Studies in Journalism*, 15(5), p.5-34.
- Niederhoffer, K., Mooth, R., Wiesenfeld, D. and Gordon, J. (2007) The Origin and Impact of CPG New-Product Buzz: Emerging Trends and Implications. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 47(4), p. 420-426.
- Okonkwo, U. (2010) *Luxury online: styles, systems, strategies*. New York: Palgave McMicmillian.
- Patton, M.Q. (2002) *Qualitative Research and Evaluation Methods*. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Pervez, G. & Kjell, G. (2005) Research Methods in Business Studies, third edition. New York: Pearson Education Limited.
- Picard, R. (2010) *The economics and financing of media companies*. New York: Fordham University Press.
- Pires, G.D., Staton, J. and Rita, P. (2006) The internet, consumer empowerment and marketing strategies. *European Journal of Marketing*, 40(9/10), p. 936-949.

- Saunders, M., Lewis, P. and Thornhill, A. (2012) *Research Methods for Business students*. 6th ed. London: Financial Times.
- Smith, P.R. and Chaffey, D. (2005) *E-marketing Excellence: at the Heart of Ebusiness*. 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. New York: Butterworth-Heinemann.
- Smith, T.M., Srinath, G., and Rabikar, C. (2006) A Three-Stage Model of Integrated Marketing

  Communications at the Marketing—Sales Interface. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 43

  (4), p.564-579.
- Strauss, J. & Frost, R. (2011) *E-Marketing*. New York: Prentice Hall.
- The Economist (2012) *Burberry goes digital. The Economist*. [Online]. Available at: http://www.economist.com/node/21563353 [Accessed: 12 August 2014]
- Trusov, M., Bodapati, A. & Bucklin, R. (2010) Determining Influential Users in Internet Social Networks. *Journal Of Marketing Research*, 47(4), p. 643-658.
- Villanueva, J., Shijin, Y. & Hanssens, D.M. (2008) The Impact of Marketing-Induced Versus

  Word-of-Mouth Customer Acquisition on Customer Equity Growth. *Journal of*Marketing Research, 45(1), p.48-59.
- Watts, D.J. & Peretti, J. (2007) Viral Marketing for the Real World. *Harvard Business Review*, 85(5), p.22–23.
- Wengraf, T. (2001) *Qualitative Research Interviewing: Biographic narrative and semi-structure*.

  Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Wertime, K. (2008) DigiMarketing: The Essential guide to new media and digital marketing.

  London: Wiley.
- Yin, R.K. (2009) Case Study Research. Design and Methods (4th Ed). Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.